

# Cooley

November 17, 2011

On November 15, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") announced that the former CEO of CSK Auto Corporation ("CSK") agreed to return \$2.8 million in compensation to the company, pursuant to a settlement with the SEC. The SEC sued the former CEO in 2009 seeking an order compelling him to reimburse the company for his bonuses, incentive-based compensation and stock sale profits pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("SOX"). Section 304 of SOX requires a CEO or CFO of an issuer to pay back certain types of bonus, incentive and equity-based compensation if the issuer materially restates its financial statements as a result of misconduct.

This was the first suit the SEC brought pursuant to Section 304 of SOX in which the executive was not also charged with misconduct related to the restatement. As part of the settlement, the former CEO acknowledged the SEC's position that a public company's agreement to indemnify an officer for violations of SOX Section 304 violates public policy and agreed not to seek indemnification from the company.

## Section 304 of SOX

Section 304 of SOX provides:

If any issuer is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to material noncompliance of the issuer, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer shall reimburse the issuer for:

1. any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation received by that officer from the issuer during the 12-month period following the first public issuance or filing with the Commission (whichever first occurs) of the financial document embodying such financial reporting requirement; and
2. any profits from the sale of the issuer's securities by that officer during this 12-month period.

15 U.S.C. § 7243(a).

## CSK's restatements

CSK filed two restatements related to its accounts receivables for fiscal years 2002 through 2004. Following the restatements, the SEC charged four former executives of CSK with accounting fraud and separately charged the company for filing false financial statements. The company settled the charges with the SEC. The lawsuit against the three surviving former executives is continuing.

In July 2009, the SEC also filed suit pursuant to Section 304 of SOX against the former CEO, who had not been previously sued by the SEC for accounting fraud, because he failed to repay to the company bonuses and profits from stock sales during the relevant period. The SEC's complaint against the former CEO did not contain any allegations that he participated in any of the misconduct or was even aware of the misconduct.

## Observations

CEOs and CFOs should be aware that if an accounting restatement occurs on their watch as a result of misconduct, the SEC may seek to force them to return bonuses, profits from stock sales and various other types of incentive compensation, whether or not they were involved in the misconduct.

Further, the SEC's position is that a public company cannot indemnify an officer for payments made pursuant to Section 304 of SOX, even though under Delaware law an officer is allowed to be indemnified if he or she acted in "good faith" and in a manner "reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation." 8 Del. C. § 145(a).

The SEC settlement does not address whether the CEO can seek income tax, wage tax or other tax refund or gross-ups for the repayment.

This content is provided for general informational purposes only, and your access or use of the content does not create an attorney-client relationship between you or your organization and Cooley LLP, Cooley (UK) LLP, or any other affiliated practice or entity (collectively referred to as "Cooley"). By accessing this content, you agree that the information provided does not constitute legal or other professional advice. This content is not a substitute for obtaining legal advice from a qualified attorney licensed in your jurisdiction and you should not act or refrain from acting based on this content. This content may be changed without notice. It is not guaranteed to be complete, correct or up to date, and it may not reflect the most current legal developments. Prior results do not guarantee a similar outcome. Do not send any confidential information to Cooley, as we do not have any duty to keep any information you provide to us confidential. This content may be considered **Attorney Advertising** and is subject to our [legal notices](#).

---

## Key Contacts

John C. Dwyer Palo Alto	dwyerjc@cooley.com +1 650 843 5228
Mike Klisch Washington, DC	mklisch@cooley.com +1 202 842 7870
Christopher B. Durbin Seattle	cdurbin@cooley.com +1 206 452 8769
Koji Fukumura San Diego	kfumumura@cooley.com +1 858 550 6008

---

This information is a general description of the law; it is not intended to provide specific legal advice nor is it intended to create an attorney-client relationship with Cooley LLP. Before taking any action on this information you should seek professional counsel.

Copyright © 2023 Cooley LLP, 3175 Hanover Street, Palo Alto, CA 94304; Cooley (UK) LLP, 22 Bishopsgate, London, UK EC2N 4BQ. Permission is granted to make and redistribute, without charge, copies of this entire document provided that such copies are

complete and unaltered and identify Cooley LLP as the author. All other rights reserved.